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         There are two typical histories of the birth of the cinema. To the French, the brothers Auguste and Louis Lumière invented the movies one legendary night in December 1895, when they held the first-ever commercial showing of a motion picture in the basement of the Grand Café, on Paris’s Boulevard des Capucines. This was the evening, as the story goes, on which Parisians—still lethargic from their Christmas feasts—were sent shrieking out of the screening room by the Lumières’ Arrivée d’un Train en Gare de la Ciotat, in which a locomotive charges straight at the audience, and the evening on which men whose last names would become famous—Gaumont, Pathé, Méliès—realized that this would be the medium to make their fortunes. Th e aptly named Lumière brothers are emblems of French national pride, lionized in history books and the collective consciousness. After all, it is their invention, the Cinématographe, that gives the entire medium its name.

         In the United States, it is another mythical figure of the nineteenth century who is credited with originating the next century’s defining medium. Thomas Edison—celebrated by his countrymen in his own day as the Wizard of Menlo Park—first sold tickets to view moving pictures in a peep-show device, the Kinetoscope, in 1894. Edison, the self-made working-class genius from the Midwest, is as foundational to the modern American self-identity as the Lumières are to the French. Edison, he of the telegraph, the phonograph, and the light bulb. Edison, whose thousand patents and partial deafness and pithy quotes (“I xivhave not failed—I’ve just found ten thousand ways that won’t work”; “Genius is one percent inspiration and ninety-nine percent perspiration”; “Opportunity is missed by most people because it is dressed in overalls and looks like work”) have become the stuff of legend. This is the person, American schoolchildren learn, who came up with the movies. His Kinetoscope was the first machine on which motion pictures—a series of still photographs captured by a single lens, then shown at sufficient speed to create the illusion of motion—could be experienced by the public. So what if the Lumière brothers were the first to throw those moving pictures onto a screen? That, Edison contended, was not a matter of innovation but presentation.

         Neither of these versions of history is the truth.

         The following pages tell the true story of what happened before. Before Edison’s Kinetoscope, and before the Cinématographe. It is the story of Louis Le Prince, who, in 1888, made the world’s first motion picture—and then vanished.

         It’s a ghost story, a family saga, and an unsolved mystery. It’s the story of an invention that, in the words of one of the first people to witness it in action, made death seem not so final, at the end of a century when humankind had already domesticated space, light, and time. Most of all, it is the story of one family, of a man who foresaw the world to come but did not live to see it materialize, and of the power of obsession and vision; of the previously impossible achievements they can make possible—and of the wreckage they leave behind when they betray you.

         Key primary sources used in the writing of this book include the correspondence, manuscripts, and other documents in the Louis Le Prince Collection, held in the Leeds Philosophical and Literary Society Collection at the University of Leeds Library; firsthand recollections in the possession of the descendants of Louis Le Prince, including unpublished memoirs by Lizzie and Adolphe Le Prince as well as sworn affidavits given by third-party witnesses and collaborators; objects, documentations, and artifacts, including Le Prince’s cameras and surviving pieces of film, held at the UK National Science and Media Museum xvin Bradford; historical records held at the West Yorkshire Archives; and materials in the Merritt Crawford Papers, collected between 1888 and 1942 and preserved at the Museum of Modern Art in New York. Writing on Thomas Edison was supported by primary documents in the Thomas A. Edison Papers, curated and collected by Rutgers University; and original case files for the lawsuit in which the Le Princes participated were found at the National Archives at New York City. I am further indebted to over twenty-five years of research into Louis Le Prince’s life conducted in France by the historian Jacques Pfend, who generously opened his work to me. The usual sources—including but not limited to census reports, immigration records, passenger and crew lists, city directories, patent records, newspapers of the period, and other official documentation—were used to corroborate timelines and events. Notes and a bibliography can be found at the back of this book. Any passage in quotation marks is a direct quote from a written account, diary, letter, memoir, court transcript, or contemporary document.

         All remaining errors are mine alone.xvi
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            The image is a scratchy, faded monochrome, thick with thousands of microscopic silver crystals. As it moves—because it is, in fact, a succession of images, transmuting stillness into movement—the picture skips and stutters. The edges of the image tear and fray, parallel ribbons of black rolling upward on either side, made uneven by wear and time.

            Here is what the moving images show: On a flat, cold lawn, four human beings stroll in a loose circle. The young man in the foreground, dressed all in black, swings his arms wide in gleeful exaggeration, and the old man in the far corner imitates him, his coattails flapping behind him as he turns. There are two women between them, one young and one old, too, the first in a formal, tall hat and hooped dress, the second in a white bonnet and sober black frock.1

            All four of these people, as we watch them now, are long dead. They are ghosts. We are watching them because a man preserved them, by the alchemy of forces even he could not yet name—atoms, electromagnetic waves, and quantum energy—in silver and light.

         

         
            
339Notes

            1 Roundhay Garden Scene, remastered footage, Science Museum Group Collection, as well as glass copy negative of Roundhay Garden Scene, National Science and Media Museum, Bradford, object number 2019-259, and “Two Frames from Roundhay Garden Scene, same collection, object number 2015-5014.
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         On October 14, 1888—in the fifty-first year of Queen Victoria’s reign—a Frenchman by the name of Louis Le Prince, resident in Leeds, England, gathered his family on the front lawn of his in-laws’ country mansion for an experiment. The day was Sunday. The weather was bright and cold.

         Le Prince was a tall, soft-spoken gentleman, six foot three in his stockings, at a time when the average man was nine inches shorter. The most striking aspect of Le Prince’s appearance at this time—he was by then forty-seven years old—was his beard, white as snow and cut in the flamboyant style known as the Hulihee: long, fat muttonchops on the cheeks, combed outward and wavy, connected by a thick moustache, the chin shaved smooth. Though his appearance alone made him hard to forget, it was his character people found most memorable. He was a calm man, according to those who knew him. Frederic Mason, a mechanic who worked by Le Prince’s side for nearly three years, thought him “in many ways a very extraordinary man, [even] apart from his inventive genius, which was undoubtedly great.”1 He was, Mason said, “well built in proportion, slow moving, most gentle and considerate; and although an inventor, of an extremely placid disposition, which nothing could ruffle … also extremely just.”2 Le Prince’s treatment of his men seemed a reflection of his feelings on the entire species: he was trusting, but exacting; passionate, but guided by reason; patient, though he held fast. He believed in progress. He had fought in uniform 2as a young man—had seen, up close, his own share of suffering and death—but he hadn’t lost his faith in the goodness of people. And he believed, firmly, that the new machine he had invented, which he would now demonstrate for his family—a heavy box of Honduras mahogany balanced on a sturdy, four-legged stand—would do more for human advancement and fellowship than any other invention before it.

         The device, which Le Prince called a “taker” or “receiver”3 of ani­mated photographs, weighed nearly forty pounds. The wood was fresh, red, and raw. The brass accents still shone. On the front face of the box were two lenses, one below the other, the first a viewfinder and under it a “taking lens,” through which light would enter the dark interior of the box. Inside, stretched around two metal drums, was a long roll of paper manufactured by the Eastman Dry Plate and Film Company of Rochester, New York, coated in a gelatin emulsion, silver salts suspended in animal collagen. The paper base was flexible, but the chemical compound was dry and brittle. When the time was right, Le Prince would turn the hand crank on the side of the mahogany box, and the paper roll would begin advancing upward: out of the first drum; briefly between the lens and a shutter, light passing through the glass and exposing each paper frame; then into the second drum, coiling itself back into a spool. Photons would activate the silver halides in the emulsion. The gelatin would hold them fixed in place. If all went as expected—if Le Prince spun the crank at the right speed, and with regularity; if the paper didn’t rip; if the emulsion absorbed enough light—the blank paper would come out of the process covered in translucent miniature reproductions of reality as the lens had seen it: ten to twelve images per second, clear and defined enough to be run back, light now shining through the film rather than on it, to reproduce that reality at will. Already Le Prince planned to project the motion pictures—to splash them, life size, on a blank screen. He would give them color and one day synchronize them with sound. Events that could previously only be witnessed once would be available to be replayed as many times as desired. Something that had happened on one side of the planet would be viewable, with just a few days’ delay, by an audience 3at the opposite end of the world. The past would become available to the future. The dead would move, and walk, and dance, and laugh, anytime you wished to see them do all these things again, even decades after their bodies were buried and dissolved in the ground. No human experience, from the most benign to the most momentous, would again need to be lost to history. All of it could be “taken”—could be “received”—and kept, then reproduced and shared, exactly as it had once been.

         Le Prince had yet to succeed in making this possible. Every previous attempt had ended in disappointment. But he must have known that today, Sunday, October 14, 1888, would be the day he would succeed, like a conjurer, in willing light, time, and silver to combine into a force that could capture life itself.

         His confidence was reflected in his choice of performers. Until now he had never taken his camera away from the workshop and had never pointed its lens at anyone other than members of his work crew. Today, for the very first time, Le Prince had enlisted the help of outsiders.

         Le Prince assembled his four actors—his son Adolphe; his father-in-law, Joseph; his mother-in-law, Sarah; and Sarah’s close friend and former employee Annie Hartley—near the house’s bay windows. He asked them to stand on the grass and reminded them of the task they had agreed to complete. Annie Hartley would remember being confused about what, exactly, Le Prince hoped to achieve with that gigantic camera he said could somehow make photographs that moved.

         Louis laid his hand on his camera’s crank and called out to his actors to perform. Adolphe and Joseph walked in wide, expansive circles. Sarah wobbled in a straight line. Annie tapped her feet. Louis’s hand turned and the mahogany box rattled like a machine gun. Inside the paper frayed as if it might rip.

         It didn’t. The microscopic silver grains, flooded with light, began to transform.

         The images captured by Louis Le Prince that day form the first motion picture ever shot in human history. They were the culmination of four years of furious, costly work. Other men—in America, France, Germany, 4eastern Europe, and elsewhere—had taken part in a long race to become the world’s first filmmaker, their passion and determination equal to Le Prince’s. He was aware of some of them and suspected the existence of the others. Several of them had the backing of wealthy bankers and capitalists. Louis Le Prince—a studious polymath, trained as a chemist, whose peripatetic lifestyle had seen him live in four countries and work as a teacher, a painter, an industrial draftsman, and a potter—had beaten them all, and done it almost single-handed. He’d had no outside fund­ing, no laboratory, no employees. He had spent every penny of his own money, defying the counsel of friends and colleagues. He had worked day and night in cheap rented premises, assisted only in the end by a ragtag few tradesmen. Patent officers had rejected his first designs as witchcraft, not science. Bailiffs had knocked at his door and threatened legal action.

         He had pressed on through it all, and was about to be vindicated. After years of toil and uncertainty, the future, finally, was bright.

         Later that afternoon, Le Prince and his son emptied the camera of its contents, a job that required covering the machine in a large black cloth to protect the film as it was removed and sealed away from the light. The dark sheet was new, sewn and cut just for the occasion by the wife of his mechanic, Jim Longley, and handled with the reverence one used with a shroud. They carried the camera and the case containing the fragile ribbon of undeveloped images back to their workshop on Woodhouse Lane, in the center of industrial Leeds. The next day, Monday, October 15, Longley began the work of developing the film. Longley, forty-three, was careful and precise about his work. He was an inventor himself—he held a patent for an automated ticket-issuing machine, one of the first of its kind in the world, which was eventually used on city omnibuses and in the turnstiles of Leeds’s professional sports grounds. He understood the caution required. In the dark of the shop, drapes drawn over the few windows, Longley dunked the paper film in a succession of chemical baths, each mixture drawing further detail out of the emulsion. Finally, he removed the film from the last tank and moved it to a “developing reel,” around which, loosely coiled, it was left to dry. The negatives were 5then transferred as positive images to a new base—paper, probably, but perhaps glass plates. This was the work “print” that was later fed into Le Prince’s projector prototype, which he called a “deliverer” of images. When Le Prince returned to the workshop, pointed the projector at a blank wall, and turned it on, the shadows of his loved ones splashed out of the machine’s lens against the white stone like specters. The live dance performed the previous day under the autumnal sun replayed itself, indoors, in grays and blacks. Adolphe, standing near his father, watched himself stride forward across the lawn, like a man haunted by his own double. The silver had held its place, the paper had not torn, the mer­cury and iodine had sharpened the vision: the experiment had worked.

         Ten years after that motion picture was shot, a sensational lawsuit was raging, its outcome hinging on Le Prince’s “garden scene,” as he had come to call it. Its developments were regularly covered on the front pages of international newspapers, and its outcome would determine who, in the eyes of the law, was the inventor of motion pictures. It was a court case that would shape the movie industry for the rest of the twentieth century, and one in which Thomas Edison, the world’s most famous inventor and the self-proclaimed creator of motion pictures, stood accused of theft, fraud, and perjury. The trial’s catalyst was the disappearance of Louis Le Prince, who, two years after shooting the garden scene, had boarded a train in the South of France—and was never seen or heard of again. His body was not recovered. It would be seven years—the period required by law for a missing person to be declared dead—before his family could take control of his patents and other intellectual property; by then, Edison had already made a fortune showing moving pictures, and the Le Prince family went to court to prove the new medium was not his to exploit.

         Le Prince’s disappearance had not been solved; his final fate remained unknown. His wife, however, had a theory. Louis, she said, had been kidnapped and killed—and the man who ordered the murder was Thomas Edison.6

         
            Notes

            1 Declaration of Frederic Mason, 21 April 1931, reproduced in Fielding, 81–83, and Lizzie Le Prince, 116.

            2 Ibid.

            3 Le Prince’s terms for the parts of his machines, as well as how he referred to the respective scenes he filmed, are taken from his patents, correspondence, and are consistent in the accounts of his family and collaborators.
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            THE TRAIN

            September 16, 1890
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         The train to Paris, which had been expected at 2:37 p.m., pulled in five minutes behind schedule.

         Albert Le Prince didn’t see his younger brother, Louis, very often anymore. Louis had moved away from France over twenty years ago—and if that wasn’t enough, lately he had been consumed by his work on a mysterious moving picture machine. Now Louis had come to visit, delighting Albert’s four children. The children were still grieving their mother, who had died just three and a half years earlier, a week before her thirty-eighth birthday. Louis had a way with young people. He took them—three girls and one, the youngest, a boy—on long walks through the parks of Dijon, enchanting them with descriptions of New York City, where his wife and children lived—the restless metropolis that was growing bigger day by day, overtaking London as the largest city in the world; a city of mansions built by bankers hoarding their fortunes and of tenements bursting with immigrants seeking their own; a city Thomas Edison had spent the last decade filling with electrical light. Dijon, by comparison, seemed tame, so provincial it may as well have existed in a different reality. He told them stories of his own five children, all about the same ages as their cousins, who were waiting for him in that city. On evenings when Albert was detained at work, Louis sat with them at home, entertaining them and giving them English lessons, correcting 10their pronunciation and suggesting books for them to read. His lists of recommendations were endless, from fiction to textbooks. Uncle Louis had a curiosity about the world, about the way things worked, about chemistry and engineering and art. He shared that curiosity with them as if it grew more bountiful for being spread around, and it did. Marie, writing later of spending time with her uncle, described it as a delight.1

         The visit, however, was brief: three days. It would be Louis’s last for the foreseeable future. His moving picture device, Louis confided to Albert, was all but finished. As soon as he was back in Leeds, in the north of England, where he had been working on the invention, he would return to the United States with it, this time for good. His assistants in Leeds had packed up the machines in special padded traveling cases; his wife had rented a historic mansion in uptown Manhattan, as a venue from which to unveil to the world this most modern of inventions. Nearly all the arrangements had already been made.

         Louis and Albert were less comfortable together than Louis was with his nieces and nephew. When the middle-aged brothers spoke—“not,” Marie wrote of her father, “as much as he wished to do”2—the conver­sation was often about money, of which neither brother had much at hand, Louis having spent the best part of a decade experimenting in animated photography, Albert adapting to life as a widower and single father. Louis was sure the motion picture device would change all of this. It was the kind of creation, according to him, that could alter the course of humankind. Imagine being able to experience the life of a person from the opposite side of the planet: to see how he existed, and to understand the rhythms of his world. Imagine doing so not through the pages of a book, but as if you had been transported instantly into that faraway place, and it existed vividly in front of your eyes, with all its sights and sounds. Imagine such a tool being used in education, enter­tainment, science, and diplomacy. Was that not certain to revolutionize the human experience, as drastically as the railroad and telephone had?

         Louis spoke of these possibilities often. He believed in them with a fire he had never felt for anything else.11

         Albert—older, more levelheaded; a man who made money constructing necessary buildings—may have had his doubts.

         The weekend passed; Monday arrived. On Tuesday the sixteenth, a sweltering day, Louis awaited the afternoon express back to Paris, from where he would make his way—via Brittany, London, Leeds, and Liverpool—back to America.

         
             

         

         Later, after it had become clear that September 16, 1890, was one of the defining days of his life, Albert traced the steps he had taken that Tuesday. He replayed every word said and every gesture made. He told his sister-in-law—Louis’s wife—about walking him to the platform, and, he said, told the police every detail as well.

         The train station at Dijon was less than a kilometer away from Albert’s home on rue Berbisey in the city center, a strip of elegant white stone town houses belonging to the city’s merchants and politicians. Albert’s was one of the smaller, more modest buildings, its ground-floor windows opening right out to the sidewalk.

         Under a kilometer, from there to the station: fifteen minutes by foot, substantially less by horse-drawn carriage, past the twin towers and central spire of the gothic Cathédrale Sainte-Bénigne rising over the town. It was just after midday and the streets were busy. Until the railway had come to the city in the 1850s, Dijon had been on the decline: long home to royalty and nobility, seat of the influential fourteenth-and fifteenth-century Duchy of Burgundy, much of it was destroyed in 1789 by revolutionaries and rioters. For sixty years its infrastructure sat unrenewed, its streets grew filthy, swaths of its surrounding countryside wasted away unused. Dijon was, Victor Hugo wrote in 1839, “melancholy and sweet,”3 proud but lethargic, gallant but impoverished.

         Then the steam train came, connecting Dijon to Paris to the north and Marseille to the south and to dozens of towns and hamlets in between. Now, from the beating heart of the terminal in the center of town, tracks branched out in all directions like arteries, pumping life 12into the municipality. The streets around the depot filled with shops and restaurants, and suburbs spread outside the city’s ancient walls to accommodate a growing population. This was Dijon as Louis and Albert saw it that day: vibrant and entrepreneurial, fast urbanizing and industrializing.

         Louis, Albert, and Albert’s children arrived at the paved forecourt outside the train station. Le Prince originally intended to travel on the morning train, but after Albert was detained by a professional appoint­ment, Louis had chosen to wait so he could properly say his goodbyes. As Albert later related it, they had reconvened at midday, settling the matters they had not managed to discuss in the previous three days, mostly about a family inheritance to be divided between the two of them; and then “all the family went to the station with [Louis]; he was in good spirits, and while waiting for the train laughingly showed his nieces the little trinkets he had purchased for his daughters as souvenirs.”4 Louis was meeting friends in Paris, with whom he would sail back to England, by night ferry to Britain’s southern coast, then by rail to Leeds. It was Tuesday; by Friday Louis Le Prince planned to be aboard a steamer pulling out of Liverpool with its bow aimed at New York.

         As the locomotive pulled in, they made their goodbyes. If Louis’s embrace with his brother was particularly effusive—or, on the contrary, unusually restrained—Albert did not record it in any retellings of the day. Louis collected his luggage and boarded the train. Albert later said he had seen him do so. His daughter, twenty-one-year-old Marie, confirmed it.

         
             

         

         In Paris, Mr. Richard Wilson, banker of Leeds, Yorkshire, and his wife waited for Louis Le Prince.

         Wilson and Le Prince had been friends for nearly twenty years. They were members of the same institutions, Richard was Louis’s banker, and he owned several pieces of Louis’s art. They had traveled to France together and then gone their separate ways: Richard and his wife to 13sightsee, Louis to meet his brother in Dijon. They had agreed to meet again in Paris for the journey back to England.

         But Louis did not appear.

         At some point that night or the next day, unable or unwilling to delay their return home any longer, the Wilsons made their own way back to Calais. Wilson did not appear to feel undue concern. Perhaps he assumed Louis had decided to stay in Dijon a little longer, whether by choice or by obligation. Le Prince was usually a courteous man, and while he could have used either the telegraph or one of the new telephones, by now installed in every French rail station, to give Wilson advance warning of this change of plans, it wasn’t uncommon, in those early days of long-distance communication, for this sort of thing to happen. Someone was delayed, something unforeseen had come up, you would simply see them a few days later than expected.

         So the Wilsons boarded the ferry alone, presuming Louis was still with Albert in Burgundy. It would be weeks before anyone realized Louis Le Prince was, in fact, gone. Somehow, somewhere between Dijon and Paris, he had vanished.14

         
            Notes

            1 Marie Emma Adèle Le Prince to Marie Gabriella Le Prince, 10 November 1890.

            2 Ibid.

            3 Victor Hugo, En Voyage, Tome II. Oeuvres Complètes de Victor Hugo (Librairie Ollendorff, 1910), 262. (Translated from the French by the author.)

            4 Lizzie Le Prince, 42.
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            MARKING TIME

            October 20–November 11, 1890
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         Seven weeks later, Le Prince’s wife Lizzie, forty-four years old, stood waiting on the Battery Park waterfront, the cold November wind coming in off the New York Bay with a force strong enough to loosen her hair out from under her hat. Her daughter Mariella, twenty—the same age Lizzie had been when she’d met Louis—stood by her side. Louis Le Prince had boarded the train to Dijon nearly two months earlier, and his wife had only just learned he had never arrived in Paris with it.

         For the last three years—up until that visit with Albert—Louis had lived and worked in Leeds, Lizzie’s hometown. He had returned there from New York, where the family had moved in the early 1880s, to take advantage of the wealth of his father-in-law, Joseph Whitley, in his mission to perfect his motion picture camera and projector. Whitley, ironmonger of Leeds, had access to workshops, tools, and staff Louis could not afford himself. He sailed back to England alone, leaving his family behind in America, expecting the work to take a matter of months. It stretched out to three interminable years. Lizzie and the five children visited in the summers—when they could afford it. Cash was scarce. To make ends meet, Lizzie worked as an art teacher and wrote articles for women’s journals. She and the children moved from home to home, eventually renting an old house on a hill, uptown in Washington Heights, where woods still stood and Manhattan still felt 16like the countryside. The mansion reminded Lizzie of her home outside Leeds, where the middle class also lived in big houses on quiet hills, comfortably removed from the crowded, noisy city below. The house had been neglected for years: passed down from hand to hand, haggled over in inheritance disputes, its lawns overrun with weeds and its orchards cracked and rotting. Restoring the place would fill the quiet hours as Lizzie waited for her husband to come home, and preparing it as the venue in which he would eventually premiere his invention made her feel a part of his work, even while he was an ocean away. The entire family longed for Louis to return—and, with him, normalcy.

         Louis’s homecoming had inched closer and closer all year, with ago­nizing slowness. “It will take me another ten or fourteen days to com­plete the new machine,” Louis had written his wife in late March 1890. “This is absolutely my last trial and I trust it will answer perfectly.”1 Two weeks later he remained on that schedule: just “a few days more and I will be through with the machine,”2 he confirmed.

         “What a relief it will be,” he added in his next letter. “I shall scarcely believe it is over after all this anxious tugging, waiting, and trying again.”3 By summer he declared the work finished and started planning the journey back to New York. He arranged to bring along his father-in-law, Joseph Whitley, by now widowed and ill, to see out his old age with his daughter and grandchildren in the New World. By September, Louis was in Dijon, saying his goodbyes to his brother and his family.

         And then the letters stopped coming.

         Louis and Lizzie wrote each other every week, almost without fail. This time, however, Lizzie knew her husband was busy with all that had to be done before his departure. A month without letters might not have mattered as long as Louis was back home, for good, at the end of it.

         September turned to October without a word. Then came October 20, a gray, cloudy day. Winds and thunderstorms had battered the city the day before; a policeman had been struck by lightning and thrown fifteen feet across Westchester Avenue in the Bronx. New York woke up on the twentieth to pavements glistening and gummed with fallen 17leaves. Engineers from the Edison General Electric Company spread out across the city to repair fallen electrical and telegraph wires. Steam­ships that had remained docked in New York harbor overnight, hatches battened down against the deluge, began unloading their passengers, a great mass of travelers—wealthy businessmen and desperate immigrants alike—heaving into Battery Park.

         Among those ships was the RMS Umbria, the largest, fastest, and most luxurious vessel in the Cunard Line fleet, a seven-ton, single-propeller behemoth that plied the regular service between Liverpool and New York. Among the Umbria’s thirteen hundred passengers was Joseph Whitley, who had celebrated his seventy-fourth birthday at sea. He was accompanied not by Louis but by a distant relative, thirty-three-year-old Arthur Oates.4 Oates knew only that Le Prince had failed to return to Leeds from France and that it had been decided—by Whitley’s doctors, his family, or both—the old man had best leave for America before his health made it impossible. Lizzie had a brother, Jack, but he was then in Germany on business and unable to come home to England. Joseph needed accompaniment, so Arthur had brought him. When she saw her father, Lizzie thought he looked “dangerously ill.”5

         She brought him to the old house uptown, where he could spend time with her and his grandchildren, and where Phoebe, the Le Prince family’s longtime nanny and housekeeper, could help look after him. (It is unclear how long Arthur Oates stayed in New York before return­ing to England.) But Joseph’s condition continued to deteriorate. “My father’s case grew hopeless,” Lizzie wrote later, “and in grief I wrote to my brother and my husband, urging the latter’s immediate return, and expressing wonder that I had no letters.”6

         Her dispatch to Louis went unanswered. From Germany, Jack wrote his brother-in-law letters and wires of his own. They received no reply either. Jack messaged Richard Wilson, the banker, who let him know he and his wife had traveled back from Paris without Louis. This prompted Jack to contact Albert Le Prince in Dijon, who told him Louis had left over a month earlier, and conveyed his own astonishment at the situation. 18

         No one knew where Louis Le Prince was. Albert and his children were the last people to have seen him alive—a whole five weeks earlier.

         And so, as Lizzie put it, “the search began.”7

         
             

         

         The world was vast then. The Atlantic—before storms could be reliably predicted and avoided, before transcontinental phone calls and wire­less, before airplanes—was a gantlet to be overcome. Letters from one side of the sea took days to reach their recipients on the other. News in England—a death in the family, a disappearance—would have to wait several days to be read in America, and vice versa. Lizzie could not make the journey to Europe herself. She could not afford it; she could not leave her children; she could not abandon her dying father. Dijon was thirty-seven hundred miles away, Louis had been there six weeks earlier, and both expanses, of distance and of time, seemed formidable and insurmountable. Together they raised questions as dark and unan­swerable as the ocean.

         What had happened on that train? Had Louis suffered an accident or fallen victim to violence of a more nefarious kind? Not only had there been no communication from him, but there had been no notice of his having been found or assisted; Albert had let Lizzie know the rail company had not recorded any incidents of any kind on that particular service. Was Louis alive? Where was his luggage—it was not found on the train—and if he was dead, where was his body? Had he been robbed while the train sped through the French countryside and thrown out the carriage door and into the darkness? Was he lying injured in a hospital, or lifeless in a ditch? Had he in fact made it to Paris but been attacked as he walked out of the Gare de Lyon minutes before nine p.m.—grabbed by the collar, stripped of his belongings, and hurled into the Seine? It was known to happen: the Paris Morgue was, newspapers said, filled with waterlogged corpses. Or could Louis have made it as far as the Channel Ferry, hurrying to catch up to Richard and Mrs. Wilson, and somehow fallen over the railing of the night boat and drowned, in a 19different dark body of water? Was he hiding? Running from something, or someone—or had he been caught by it, or by them? The Dijon–Paris line also led, in the opposite direction, to Marseille, a doorway to North Africa, its sun-drenched harbor home to countless merchant shipping vessels and international criminal enterprises; a “mouth ready to swal­low the entire world,”8 in the words of one novelist, to which countless people went to disappear or be disappeared. Had Louis reversed course, abandoning one train and boarding another, headed south rather than north? From Marseille one could end up anywhere.

         At night Lizzie lay alone in her bedroom. Elsewhere in the house slept the children: Mariella, twenty; Adolphe, eighteen; Aimée, sixteen; Joseph, fifteen; and Fernand Léon, thirteen.

         Lizzie had rented the Jumel Mansion, as the house was known, in the spring. In the autumn, as darkness encroached earlier each night, the house could feel sprawling and even cavernous. Eighty-five hun­dred square feet over three aboveground floors and a basement, in a grand colonial style that already felt ancient, it was filled with long, dark hallways that neighbors whispered were haunted. Eliza Jumel, the socialite after whom the house was named, was rumored to have killed her first husband; her specter, bonneted and somber, had been seen by previous residents at the first-floor landing or at the balcony, occasionally silent, sometimes wailing. In the dark it was a restless house, its living inhabitants as tormented as its dead.

         Lizzie felt helpless. From Europe, Jack and Albert “assured” her, she later wrote, “that I could help them better by staying in New York, in case [Louis] should arrive there, than by leaving my family and coming to help them.”9

         “Watch incoming steamers and passenger lists,” Jack advised.10 It was still possible that Louis was on his way to America. He had been delayed, some unforeseen circumstance had forced him to remain silent, but he might yet be on any one of the ships crisscrossing the Atlantic every day.

         Starting in late October, in the mornings after breakfast, Lizzie and Mariella dressed for cold weather and made their way downtown. 20They walked or took a carriage to 155th Street and then paid five cents each to board the Ninth Avenue elevated train. Its wooden carriages rocked past apartment windows, its engine belching coal gas over the West Side. They left Washington Heights, which was still almost the countryside, traveling along Central Park, where sheep still grazed on the meadow, and then over the open-air markets and tenements of Lower Manhattan. Alighting at Battery Place, on Manhattan’s southern tip, the two women had only a five-minute walk to Castle Garden, the sandstone fort that had been New York’s port of entry for immi­grants and visitors. Mother and daughter spent the next hours visiting shipping line offices on Steamship Row and checking their passen­ger lists, scanning for Louis’s name. They had yet to find it. Having exhausted the available ledgers, the two women then proceeded along the waterfront to the end of South Street, where they lingered outside the Barge Office and Emigrant Landing Depot, studying the faces in the arriving crowds.

         Until April 1890, newcomers to the United States had been processed within the circular fort of Castle Garden itself, on a man-made island two hundred feet off Manhattan’s tip. Once an incoming steamer had cleared quarantine, its passengers disembarked, with their luggage, onto a small fleet of barges and steamer tugs that took them to “America’s Open Gate,”11 as some called the Castle. Here, under the watchful eyes of New York City policemen, whose main duty was to ensure the foreigners were not fleeced, robbed, or assaulted by loitering criminals and swindlers, immigrants were examined by a doctor and registered their names and personal details with state clerks. Those who were found to be ill or destitute were sent by steam ferry to hospitals or detention centers on nearby Wards Island. Everyone else filed into the Castle’s huge atrium, where, under its domed roof, they could exchange their gold and foreign currency for US dollars, peruse available employ­ment opportunities on the labor exchange’s notice board, or purchase train tickets to destinations elsewhere in North America. Their business done, they crossed a walkway over the water and entered the United 21States proper through a gate into Battery Park, the country—and their futures—before them.

         Castle Garden was legendary. Immigrants wrote home to Europe about entering New York Harbor and being overwhelmed not just by the brand-new, copper-colored Statue of Liberty standing proud and welcoming over the bay, but also by the cacophony of the Castle, every inch of its hard floor occupied by men, women, families—German, Irish, Russian, Norwegian, Italian, Greek, Turkish, British—sleeping, eating, shouting, conversing, the fashions worn and the tongues spo­ken sundry and alien. There were no visas, and few travelers carried passports. The Castle had opened in 1855; in the thirty-five years since, the building had welcomed nearly ten million immigrants to the New World. Among those to have been processed through the fort between 1875 and 1890 were four-year-old Erik Weisz, who in 1890 would begin work as a professional magician under the name of Harry Houdini; a twenty-eight-year-old Croatian engineer obsessed with electricity named Nikola Tesla; and an unemployed sixteen-year-old from the Rhineland, fleeing conscription in the Imperial German Army, who gave his name as Friedrich Trump. The men whose studios would define Hollywood’s Golden Age three decades later had also shuffled across the fort’s scuffed floors. Seventeen-year-old Carl Laemmle, later of Universal Pictures, traveled from Germany in 1884, journeying on to Chicago to join an older brother who had already settled in the Midwest. Three-year-old Lazar Meir, who would change his name to Louis B. Mayer and run MGM Studios, arrived around 1887, his parents having, like hundreds of thousands of eastern European Jews, fled the pogroms spreading across Russia. Adolph Zukor, who went on to found Paramount Pictures, landed from Hungary as a young adult in 1891. The Le Prince family’s own first steps on American soil had been inside Castle Garden in the early 1880s.

         Recently, however, the federal government had taken over the admin­istration of immigration duties from the state of New York, following a series of fires and deadly epidemics at the timeworn building. A new 22facility was approved at Ellis Island, seven miles off Manhattan, not just to stamp out malpractice but also to facilitate more thorough medical screening and background checking of immigrants. From the spring of 1890, federal transition employees handled immigrants at the Barge Office, a smaller building erected on a wharf adjacent to the fort, and this was the building outside of which Lizzie and Mariella would stand. They made that trip often throughout October.

         By early November, Richard Wilson had gained entry to Le Prince’s workshop in Leeds and reported back that it did not seem as though Le Prince had returned to it since going to Dijon: his equipment was untouched, his key still in a drawer. Wilson had the building locked up and Louis’s more valuable possessions—the motion picture cameras and projectors, the endless spools of paper and celluloid film—secured. From Germany, Jack Whitley requested Scotland Yard open a missing-persons investigation. Albert Le Prince wired from Dijon to announce a Détective Dougan, of the Bureau de Recherches Pour Familles, would be leading the French side of the search.

         Lizzie and Mariella continued to watch the steamers. The seemingly endless parade of boats, each overloaded with people, and with their hopes and dreams. They must have known this was a pointless activity. Le Prince knew New York, and he had taken on American citizenship in the mid-1880s:12 not only would he enter America through the office set aside for citizens, but he would know how to contact his family once he was cleared to move through. Yet they undertook it all the same, delaying the long journey back uptown. Maybe the chaos of the new Barge Office would mean Louis would be funneled through with the foreign arrivals. Maybe he was penniless—who could tell the state he might be in after these weeks of delay—or perhaps he had cause to sneak back into the country under a false name and false pretenses. These were far-fetched theories but they were preferable to visions of Louis, dead, never again to be reunited with his children.

         On November 11, fifty-six days since Le Prince had last been seen in Dijon, Lizzie and Mariella finally found his name in the Barge Office’s 23registry of arrivals. It was there, scratched hurriedly onto the page in fresh black ink: L. Leprince, landed the day before on the steamship La Gascogne, operated by the French Compagnie Générale Transatlantique (CGT), originating from Le Havre.13 It was still berthed at the CGT’s Pier 42, on the Hudson River where Morton Street met the water.

         Lizzie and Mariella raced across Lower Manhattan to the piers. They interrogated the Gascogne’s crew; they even enlisted the help of a Board of Emigration policeman, an Irish-born detective by the name of Peter Groden. But L. Leprince turned out to be a stranger—a twenty-seven-year-old farmer who had left his small town and its exhausted fields for the American West, in search of more promising land to cultivate.

         Soon after that disappointment, Lizzie abandoned her missions to the Battery. She and Mariella walked back to the elevated train termi­nal. They bought their fares and boarded the train back to Washington Heights. They returned to the old mansion on the hill—to its somber, echoing hallways, to Lizzie’s ailing father, and to the anxious children.24
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            EDISON’S NEWEST WONDER

            December 1890–May 1891
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         December bore on. Just before Christmas, New York was pummeled with violent winds and downpours of cold rain, whirlpools forming at street corners, and the house’s old walls groaned as the gale howled and the deluge drummed the roof. The Le Prince children did their best to generate the spirit for the season, and frail old Joseph Whitley fought to retain control of his deteriorating mind. Lizzie focused her attention on taking care of him, but saw no improvement. New Year’s Eve came and went. On January 12, 1891, Whitley passed away in the night. He was buried in Trinity Church Cemetery at 153rd Street. Eliza Jumel, after whom the mansion on the hill was named, was resting in the same ground.

         After the service Lizzie’s children hailed a coach and the family rode home in the snow, their loss and grief now doubled.

         Winter turned to spring. Trees and flowers bloomed in Highbridge Park. The sun coaxed green grass out of the mud over Joseph Whitley’s grave.

         And then everything changed—again.

         
            * * *

         

         26On Thursday, May 28, the largest headline on the front page of the New York Sun announced in loud, bold letters: “THE KINETOGRAPH. Edison’s Latest and Most Surprising Device—Pure Motion Recorded and Reproduced.” Edison claimed to be able to “reproduce the image of a living, moving, speaking human being, and not only one image but a dozen images together, or forty of them,” using a “small pine box … [with] some wheels and belts near the box, and a workman who had them in charge.”1 The Kinetograph was a peep-show device—the pictures viewable through a pinhole in the top of the machine—but Edison predicted it could be adapted so that “a man can sit in his own parlor and see reproduced on screen the forms of the players in an opera produced on a distant stage,” or each devastating blow of a prize fight, or each moment of a president’s speech. It would all be available to watch on “a big screen…. You watch the screen, and see a picture of the stage, full size,” made possible through the use in the camera of “a roll of gelatine film,” as celluloid film was often referred to then.2

         The article ran one column on the front page, two and a half columns on the first inside sheet. With every passing word, Lizzie’s dread grew. Twenty-five years later, when she put her memories of the time down to paper, she wrote that she knew immediately the machine Edison was describing.

         “It was my husband’s invention of moving pictures!”3

         
             

         

         For forty-eight hours every newspaper in America was full of praise for Thomas Edison. “Edison’s Newest Wonder,” exclaimed the Evening World in an extra edition on the twenty-eighth, “telegraphs 2,400 Pho­tographs per Minute…. The Wizard Thomas A. Edison, of Llewellyn Park, waves his wand and the world marvels….”4 The Pittsburg Dispatch dubbed the Kinetograph “his latest and most wonderful invention.”5 The Philadelphia Inquirer, unable to find the right words to describe the inner workings of the machine to its readership, settled on “‘Photos’ 27by Electricity.”6 By May 30, comparable praise appeared in newspapers in England and across Europe.

         Throughout that weekend, Lizzie, still “much upset,”7 received word, by cable and in person, from outraged friends. Henry Woolf, a decorator and friend of Louis’s, had seen an early version of Le Prince’s camera years earlier. “I remember seeing the pictures,” he said later, and “I had grasped the manner of working the apparatus enough to know that on reading Edison’s account of the Kinetoscope in the papers of May 1891, that it was an infringement on Le Prince’s machine.”8 Mary Borer, who had known the Le Princes in England and now lived in Connecticut, was so “indignant” at seeing Louis’s work being brought out “in Edison’s name” she cut the announcement out of the Sun and sent it immediately to the Jumel Mansion to alert Lizzie.9

         Each of them had read a version of the news in his or her paper of choice, and each of them expressed a version of the same sentiment: Why was Edison announcing the invention Louis Le Prince had been working on for the past five years?

         Inventors toiled away at parallel ideas all the time; Le Prince had been aware of at least two rivals. And yet, with every new reported detail, the similarities between Edison’s Kinetograph and Le Prince’s moving picture apparatus came into sharper focus. Each device could take a great number of photographs per second, sequentially, through a single lens, powered by a hand crank. Both the Kinetograph and Louis’s camera used strips of celluloid film, and both advanced that film past a single lens using sprockets that pulled it forward intermittently—the teeth clicking into a metal belt, in the case of Louis’s machine, and directly into film perforations, in the case of Edison’s.

         “My idea was to take a series of instantaneous photographs of motions so rapidly that in the reproduction the photographic representatives become resolved into a pure motion instead of a series of jerks,” Edison explained to a newspaperman. “The kinetograph takes a series of forty-six photographs in one second and keeps it up as long as desired. It starts, moves, stops, uncloses the shutter, takes a photograph, closes the shutter 28and starts on forty-six times a second. The result when reproduced is a pure motion.”10 The successful working of this mechanism—a strip of rollable film exposed intermittently past the camera shutter, fast enough to sustain persistence of vision—was precisely the system Louis had been perfecting in the year before his disappearance. Other rivals had used glass photographic plates, continuous movement appliances, even rotating contrivances in the shape of a gun’s cylinder. What were the odds Edison and Le Prince had conceived of the exact same method of capturing and projecting images, within a year of one another, without any contact? How could the US Patent Office have permitted Edison’s application for the Kinetograph when Louis held the right to the tech­nology through a patent granted in 1888?

         Joseph Whitley, in his long career as an ironmonger and engineer, had patented many innovations of his own, and spoke often, and disdain­fully, of how common patent theft had become. Le Prince had admired Edison and even, in the earliest days, considered bringing his idea to the exalted genius for endorsement, as many others had and would continue to do. But Le Prince had grown increasingly secretive as he approached the achievement of his plans. Lizzie remembered how one day, shortly before Louis had left New York in 1887, she had questioned the need for him to go to England, and her husband had answered “very quietly and gravely that he had heard of ‘queer’ things, and that he might be ‘safer away.’”11 Was it Edison he had come to fear? Had that fear driven him back to Leeds, an ocean away from Edison’s New Jersey lab, to finish his work? Edison was currently in court, defending his patent on the incandescent light bulb from competitors he asserted were infringing his rights; indeed, during the end of May, breathless eulogizing of the Kinetograph and rapt descriptions of proceedings in the US circuit court jostled for column inches almost daily.12 Was Thomas Edison, the Wizard of Menlo Park, a patent pirate himself?

         There were accounts from England that William Friese-Greene, a professional photographer from Bristol, had patented and publicly announced a “kinetoscope” device of his own conception as early as 29February 1890, and that Friese-Greene had written to Edison, enclosing press clippings, for his approval. (Friese-Greene would later marvel at Edison’s claiming that he had come up with the word himself.) Many businessmen accused Edison of intellectual property theft and self-aggrandizement, chief among them Edison’s most vocal rival in the electrical field, George Westinghouse. It was suspicious, too, that Edison’s final caveat (a form of prepatent) on the Kinetograph had been filed in the dying days of 1890, just weeks after Louis’s disappearance, and that this caveat, after multiple earlier versions in which Edison’s motion picture machine was of an entirely different design, suddenly bore an uncanny closeness to Louis’s own patent.

         Lizzie was taken by speculation—but two more events happened to tip her fancy into certainty. One morning that spring Lizzie had business in southern New Jersey; her appointments fulfilled, she boarded a boat at Atlantic Highlands to return to Manhattan. On the deck, according to her, was Thomas Edison himself, embarked on the same journey. He was hunched in close conversation with another, younger, man, whom Lizzie recognized almost immediately. William Dameron Guthrie, thirty-one, was a patent attorney with the firm of Seward, Blatchford, Griswold, and Da Costa. He was a friend of Jack Whitley’s—and had briefly been Louis’s own patent adviser.

         The boat reached Manhattan; its passengers stepped off into the down­town streets. Lizzie, at a distance, kept her eye on Edison and Guthrie. “I followed them up Church Street as far as Broadway,” she recorded, which was either their destination or the point at which she lost them.13

         Soon after, Lizzie said, a “connection by marriage” in England by the name of Alfred Pickard14 apprised her he had “received a visit … from a New York representative of Mr. Edison, who made minute inquiries about Le Prince’s work and disappearance. This was at once followed by the first fan-fare [sic] in the New York papers about ‘The Wizard’s gift to the world’ in May 1891.”15

         Le Prince had been missing for over eight months, and for eight months Lizzie had been at an impasse, without the slightest clue to his 30whereabouts, let alone a real lead. In the spring of 1891, when Edison’s Kinetograph was announced to the world, Lizzie suddenly held on to something she hadn’t had since the beginning. Her husband, on the brink of unveiling a machine that would change the world and make his fortune, had mysteriously disappeared—and then, just months later, Edison had gone public with what looked to be the same exact invention.

         Until then, Louis’s disappearance had been incomprehensible. Now, however, his wife saw coherence: Louis hadn’t vanished, he’d been elim­inated.

         Lizzie had a suspect—with a motive.

         
             

         

         A lawyer was consulted. His answers were unexpected and disheartening.

         Had Louis Le Prince been confirmed dead, his family could have claimed his estate, including his intellectual property, and represented his title in court as their own. As it was—with Le Prince “only” missing—the law would continue to consider him alive until his body had been found or until a sufficient period of time, specifically seven years, had passed for it to be reasonable to declare him legally deceased. Until then, his family could not, as third parties, sue to enforce his patents.

         In other words, it would be September 1897 at the earliest before the courts would even allow Lizzie to act on her husband’s behalf. By then, Thomas Edison, the world’s most famous inventor, fawned over by the press, financed by J. P. Morgan and the Vanderbilt family, would have exploited his legacy for all it was worth.

         Lizzie burned with anger at the injustice of it all. The invention Louis had spent years of his life perfecting—exhausting himself, falling ill, throwing every penny they both made into a “bottomless well”16—was finally in the world, but with Thomas Edison’s name on it, and it would be making Edison, who was already rich, even richer, while Lizzie and her daughters worked full time simply to make ends meet.

         It was not the life she had imagined. There was no way to put it right, no way to go back in time, no matter how much she wished she could. 31Time was a straight line, unstoppable and irreversible, inescapable—though Louis, for a brief few months before his disappearance, had made it something else. He had tamed time into a succession of moments, frozen on a flimsy reel—a sequence that could be rolled back at will, a simple ribbon on a spool.32
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         Louis Le Prince and Lizzie Whitley met in Paris. It was Jack Whitley who had brought them together.

         Sarah Elizabeth Whitley was one of dozens of young foreign women flocking to Paris in the 1860s to study art or fashion—a brief, final interlude of freedom before they returned to their hometowns and a life dedicated to marriage and child-rearing. She was twenty years old and pretty, with playful eyes, a mouth that seemed always ready to break into a smile, and cheeks that dimpled when it did. Her arms and hands were strong, her long white fingers nimble; she was studying pottery under Albert-Ernest Carrier-Belleuse. Everyone knew her as Lizzie.

         Carrier-Belleuse was one of the most respected and celebrated sculp­tors in Europe. His pieces decorated the palaces at the Louvre and the Tuileries; his marbles were the talk of the Paris salons. He was an officer of the Légion d’Honneur and counted Louis-Napoléon and Queen Vic­toria as customers. In 1866 alone he was finishing a terra-cotta likeness of Marguerite Bellanger, a stage actress and former circus performer who was now Napoléon III’s mistress; a sculpture for Napoléon’s favorite spa at Vichy; and a daring twenty-six-inch statue of a nude Angélique, contorted and bound to petrified rock, which later in the year would 36scandalize collectors and critics when it was shown at the Académie des Beaux-Arts’ prestigious annual Salon. Nineteenth-century men liked their erotic visions pure, helpless, and gracefully chaste. The journalist Edmond About found the sculpture audacious and vulgar.1 Her “manly and vigorous” body likewise troubled the critic Maxime du Camp: Carrier-Belleuse crafted faces and bodies so lifelike it “makes illusion impossible.”2 Equally impossible, Du Camp found, was looking away.

         Naturalism was Carrier-Belleuse’s trademark, and his skill was unparalleled. He kept a studio staffed with up to fifty practiciens, apprentices and specialists who followed the master’s orders, working from drawings made in his hand to chip marble, wax plaster, and shape clay into his visions. In the running of this business, Carrier-Belleuse was greatly helped by a devoted twenty-six-year-old assistant by the name of Auguste Rodin, whose own dedicated task was usually to apply a piece’s delicate finishing touches. Rodin stayed with Carrier-Belleuse nearly six years.

         Gregarious and well connected, Carrier-Belleuse was adored by his pupils, whom he instructed privately or, in the evenings, at the atelier of the painter Rodolphe Julian in the Passage des Panoramas, a covered mews off rue Vivienne. Aspiring artists flocked to his classes, eager to learn how to make clay look as delicate as lace, marble as soft as cream.

         Lizzie Whitley was one of these students. Julian’s study rooms were especially popular with women artists, since the more prestigious Académie des Beaux-Arts had not yet opened its doors to women and would not do so until 1897. Julian, who as a young man could not afford the Académie’s tuition fees, felt a kinship with up-and-coming artists to whom France’s snobbish, closed art world was inaccessible. “Few artists care to have the responsibility of taking ladies into their ateliers,” he explained.3 His academy, he vowed, would be different.

         Lizzie must have been one of the academy’s first pupils.4 Julian had only just opened his doors. The space was still one small room, with a stove in the center and a draped platform against a wall, on which stood the models. There was no ventilation, and in the summer, with the sun beating through the skylight, the heat was suffocating.37

         Lizzie adored it. She learned drawing and painting first, before moving on to the molding of clay. Female models posed nude, men in briefs. The classes were mixed then, men and women sitting and working together, though the women were few, and all foreigners. The “gentle­men” could be forward, and many of them were insulted to be sharing a studio with mesdemoiselles, whom they considered naturally inferior, hobbyists, where they themselves were geniuses in the making. “It was extremely awkward and disagreeable,” Julian recalled, “and I soon saw that if I were to hope to get my own countrywomen to work with me, I should have to make different arrangements.”5 He finally separated the genders in 1873, and for the rest of his life he took pleasure in letting visitors and critics know the women’s ateliers were “considerably more serious”6 than the men’s.

         One of the trailblazers, Lizzie had to put up with the condescension, the likely advances, and the snide remarks. None of it was bad enough to sour her experience, which she remembered fondly for the rest of her days. She was smart and hardworking, though she would never be more than a proficient amateur. All the same, Carrier-Belleuse’s classes cultivated her love of craft, and also gave her a framework with which to observe the world, a desire to really see it, in resistance to the increasing disconnection from nature wrought upon society by the industrial age. A decade later and more, when she was an art teacher herself, she would open her first class of every term by handing all her young pupils an egg and inviting them to hold it to the light, to familiarize themselves with its every detail. “I obey Nature in everything, and I never pretend to command her,”7 Rodin once said, echoing Carrier-Belleuse’s philoso­phy. Art was about truth, not prettiness, because truth was beauty and, added Rodin, “beauty is everywhere. It is not she that is lacking to our eye, but our eyes which fail to perceive her.”8

         Lizzie never forgot this lesson. It might have been on her mind that spring and summer in Paris when she met a tall, handsome young man who believed in the very same principles, though he expressed them not in sculpture—but in photography. 38

         Louis Aimé Augustin Le Prince was five years older than Lizzie and everything a young Englishwoman enamored with France could have wished for in a beau. He was over six feet tall, from an esteemed upper-middle-class family, with a hint of rakish charm. He was well educated—he had just returned from the University of Leipzig, where he’d studied optics and chemistry. Before that he’d spent stints at col­leges in Paris and Bonn. His passion lay in the arts and, more precisely, in the intersection of arts and technology, the science of light and its interaction with the human eye. An early photograph of Louis, likely from his student days, shows a serious young man in a sober gray work coat, white suit, and satin strap bow, his gaze direct and his posture immaculate. A portrait taken just a few years later, around the time he and Lizzie met, presents a changed man: Louis has let his hair grow and now sports a full black beard as he leans on the back of a couch or chair, his other hand in his trouser pocket. He wears a fashionable wide-lapelled overcoat over a black wool suit; the half smile on his lips has the feel of a dare or an invitation. The self-aware student is gone. In his place is a good-looking, confident Parisian bourgeois. It was as if he’d been ripped from the pages of a French romance novel, right down to his background: his father had been a soldier, his widowed mother lived on a country estate. Strangers called him Louis or Augustin. With family, he went by the affectionate diminutive of Gus.

         Her brother had put Lizzie and Gus together. John Robinson “Jack” Whitley was enrolled at Leipzig in the year below Louis, studying to be an engineer. His and Lizzie’s father, Joseph, was a brass founder and ironmonger, as their grandfather Thomas had been before them. Previous generations of the Whitley family had rarely even traveled to London, let alone the Continent, and Jack and Lizzie were likely the first members of the family to be afforded the benefit of an education abroad. But just as Lizzie knew she would be returning to Yorkshire to marry and start a family, so was Jack destined to come home to take over the family business. As Jack told it, he had all but left Leipzig, headed to Leeds via Paris, when he received a letter of introduction from one 39of his professors suggesting that, while in France, he call on a former student of the professor’s by the name of Le Prince. The old teacher had a feeling Jack and Gus might hit it off.

         He was right, though on the face of it the two young men could not have been more different. Jack was broad—broad of face, broad of shoulder, broad of ambition. He was the driving engine of every gather­ing he was a part of, a charmer and a salesman, more of an entrepreneur than an engineer. He had bold plans, for himself and for the family firm, and his will was inflexible as a steel track.

         Louis, on the other hand, was a tinkerer, fascinated with the new scientific theories that attempted to explain how the world worked. He loved his books and was a keen photographer and painter. Commerce held no fascination for him—in fact he would prove time and again in life that he was a rather poor businessman when forced to try his hand at it. Where Jack had come into the world in an industrial township, his father yet to make his fortune, Louis had been born to a family that had owned money and land for generations. Where Jack was destined to join his father’s trade almost from birth, Louis was afforded ample time to choose his direction in life: indeed his first, and possibly only, professional position to date had been a brief stint as an apprentice to the marine painter Augustin Delacroix. Where Jack had “none too much fear and restraint,” as a biographer later described him,9 Louis was measured. Where Jack was “not much given to abstract thought,” those same thoughts were almost all Louis was given to.

         And yet they had much in common. Both men were set on making their mark on the world, and neither was a stranger to hard work. A friend of Jack’s presciently wrote of him that the “danger” in his makeup lay “in going too far rather than not far enough, of attempting to do too much rather than the reverse,”10 and though Louis might take longer to make up his mind on a course of action, once he was decided he was equally uncompromising. They were humanists, raised to believe in progress and enlightenment. The Whitley family motto—Fit Via Vi, translatable as “Force Finds a Way”—echoed the battle cry of “En Avant!” 40(“Forward!”), which was emblazoned on the coat of arms of the Boulaberts, Louis’s mother’s family. Jack espoused private business as a means of social betterment. Louis believed art and science could uplift a man’s soul and help him understand his neighbors and the universe around him. Their tools were different, but the desired outcomes were the same. Both Jack and Louis were certain that a single man’s work could benefit the entirety of humankind.

         They became fast friends in the brief time Jack was in Paris. Before long he invited Louis to Yorkshire for a brief visit, though he had ulte­rior motives. The family firm was thriving in England, but the domestic market was saturated, and Jack’s experience abroad had convinced him it needed to reach new European customers. Every town and hamlet in England had its rail station, the entirety of the island bound together by a metal network, but in France and the German states there was room for growth—growth ripe to be exploited by a firm like Whitley Partners, which manufactured machines, boilers, valves, pipes, and other sundry steam engine parts and factory floor implements. Le Prince spoke both French and German; he was a classically trained draftsman with a solid grasp of chemistry and mathematics. The more Jack got to know him, the more he saw in Louis the perfect representative for an English firm on the Continent: a modern, well-bred young man French and Prussian clients would be certain to feel more kinship toward than they did the gruff Yorkshiremen Whitley’s currently had on staff. Jack, when he took over, wanted to expand. Le Prince was just the kind of man he needed to do so.

         Louis had his own reasons for accepting Jack’s offer of a trip to the north of England. Or rather, he had one reason.

         He didn’t want to say goodbye to Lizzie.

         Jack hadn’t taken long to introduce his sister to his new friend. Perhaps Lizzie and Louis first met at the Passage des Panoramas, after an evening class at Julian’s studio: the Le Prince family owned property nearby. Perhaps it was more formal. However it happened, the timeline suggests Louis fell hard and fast for Lizzie in the spring of 1866—and the feeling was reciprocal. Lizzie was swept up by Louis’s intelligence and 41attentiveness—writing about him decades later, out of all the qualities in him that had struck her, she would single out his “most retentive memory.”11 They could talk about art for hours. They made a beautiful but conspicuous pair: the northern lass with the distinctive Yorkshire accent, all shortened words and dropped g’s and h’s, fingertips often stained with splatters of paint, and the tall Alsatian intellectual in his suit and beard à la mode, soft spoken and well read, a rolled cigarette often cradled between his index and middle fingers.

         The weather was wet and hot that entire spring and summer in Paris. Neither Louis nor Lizzie had parents present to impose propriety on them—Joseph was across the Channel, Louis’s mother fifty kilometers east in Voulangis—and they seem to have made the most of it. Paris in the Belle Époque was a vibrant, sensuous city. Much of it was still a construction site, Baron Haussmann chopping and whittling the city into new boulevards, avenues, and public squares, applying the finishing touches to fifteen years spent mowing down medieval Paris’s crowded, irregular houses, its enchanting but insalubrious neighborhoods, to replace them with a harmony and splendor impossible for the poor to partake or raise barricades in. Louis and Lizzie may have gone together to the Salon, which was now open, to see Carrier-Belleuse’s arousing Angélique, or to galleries to gaze at bold new works by Monet, Manet, Cézanne, and Pissarro, whose canvases the Académie refused to show. They could have taken the short walk from the Passage des Panoramas to Printemps, the brand-new department store, with its seventeen sales counters dedicated to all aspects of fashion and interior decoration. Per­haps Louis, who was obsessive about photography, was one day so bold as to take Lizzie’s picture, and if he did, perhaps the two of them spoke of the medium’s limitations, of the lie a camera told in robbing life of its movement, still so far short of the naturalism Carrier-Belleuse could mold out of stone. “It is the artist who is truthful and it is photography which lies,” his apprentice Rodin once declared, “for in reality time does not stop, and if the artist succeeds in producing the impression of a movement which takes several moments for accomplishment, his 42work is certainly much less conventional than the scientific image, where time is abruptly suspended.”12 There is a pleasing neatness in imagining Le Prince, the man who would make the world’s first motion picture, seducing his future wife with fantasies of an artist’s camera, one that did not have to make time stop.

         One day they rode the fifty kilometers east to Voulangis, so Louis could introduce Lizzie to his widowed mother. The way of life was old fashioned there, so different from Paris. “Several members of the Le Prince family owned small farms and vineyards in this valley of the Marne,”13 Lizzie wrote years later. “The men were well set up and notably handsome; many of them returned from college and compulsory military training in Paris to their blue blouse and home farm from sheer love of country life and freedom. It was intensive farming with them, not a yard of ground was left untilled.” At the dinner table the conversation was loud and confident. “I have rarely listened to wittier talk and repartee, or more trenchant or appreciative criticism of family events and world happenings, than at that table,” Lizzie remembered.14 Money, which meant so much to the industrialists of England, left the French farmers indifferent. The celebrated painter Jean-Baptiste Corot was from the region; on a walk one afternoon Lizzie began chatting with the owner of an old farmhouse, who invited her in. There, hanging on the peasant’s wall, was a painted sketch by Corot. Lizzie was flabbergasted. Works by the artist sold for nearly 5,000 francs in Paris. But when she asked the farmer if he had any idea how much the painting was worth, to her mind an entirely natural question, the man turned cold. “He stiffened a little,” Lizzie recalled, “and said: ‘Do you think money could buy it?’”15

         It was a simple life, and it made Lizzie love Louis even more.

         On July 1, 1869, three years after they first met, Louis and Lizzie were married—not in Paris, but in Yorkshire. Paris was enthralling, and Voulangis was charming, but Leeds was where Lizzie belonged.

         And Le Prince, after his first brief visit to Leeds, had decided to stay.
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